Of agency

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,909

SEP 6 1994

CLERK AND COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

RAUL CAMEJO,

Appellant/Respondent/Defendant,

-versus-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Petitioner/Plaintiff.

APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL UPON A CERTIFIED QUESTION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAW OFFICES OF LISTER WITHERSPOON IV 721 N.W. 14 COURT MIAMI, FLORIDA 33125 (305) 541-1087 Florida Bar No. 109632

Counsel for Appellant

#

### INTRODUCTION

The appellant was the Respondent in the District Court and Defendant in the trial court. The Appellee, State of Florida was the Petitioner in the District Court and Plaintiff/Prosecution in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as Defendant and prosecution or state, respectively. The Record in this case, the Appendices attached to the State's Petition before the District Court will be referred to by the Exhibit Number and page number. References to the Appendix of Appellant will be by the letter "A" and appropriate page number. All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant was charged in the trial court with the offenses of Sexual Battery and Battery (Appendix B).

The defendant filed a Motion for Expert Psychological Examination of the Complainant, M G (Appendix C). In his Motion, the defendant listed several facts found during his investigation (Appendix C, p. 1-3) which pointed towards the mental and emotional instability of M G.

The defendant's Motion then came before the trial court for hearing (Appendix D). During the State's argument (Appendix D, p. 9-18), it's focus was not that the facts uncovered by the defendant as towards Ms. G were not true, but that they did not rise to the level of being strong and compelling reasons of an examination of Ms. G . The trial court considered the defendant's factual allegations (based on sworn testimony) and stated:

"On the other hand, it certainly seems to me that regardless of what Dr. Newman says what's consistent — what isn't consistent certainly he wasn't there and the testimony of these people as to this witness's emotional state, if nothing else, that this defendant has been charged with a first degree felony, a very serious first degree felony, and that if in fact the person making the charges is fantasizing and is not in touch with reality that that would violate his right, and if he has no way of finding that

out someone can go out and, you know, based on what's in this motion, what you told me is the depositions, someone could be emotionally or mentally unstable and believe this happened and there could be some evidence that could have ... might be consistent with something else and next thing you know the defendant, because he can't find out an expert opinion whether or not there is fantasy, he could be convicted of the crime".

(Appendix D, p. 21-22)

In order to balance the concerns of both parties the Court ordered the examination:

But the report is going to be submitted to the Court, in camera with no copies to either counsel.

(Appendix D, p. 23)

The trial court duly entered an Order on defendant's Motion (Appendix A).

The state filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari (Camejo Appendix A)

The defendant filed his Response to the Rule to Show Cause which was issued (Camejo Appendix B).

The District Court of Appeals, Fifth District issued an opinion granting the state's Petition for Writ of Certiorari (Camejo Appendix C).

The defendant filed a Motion for Rehearing/To Certify Question (Camejo Appendix D)

The District Court certified to this Honorable Court the following question:

What Standards Should The Trial Court Follow
In Ordering and Compelling Witness To Undergo
Pretrial Medical and Psychiatric Examinations;
And, What Standard of Review Should The
Appellate Court Apply In Such Cases?
This Review follows.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Standard to be applied by a trial court in ordering and compelling witnesses to undergo pretrial psychiatric examinations is whether the movant has shown compelling evidence demonstrating extraordinary and unusual facts and circumstances which point towards the complainant's mental and emotional instability.

The Standard of Review to be applied by an appellate court is whether, considering all the facts before it, the trial court abused its discretion in ruling upon a Motion to Compel the Psychiatric Examination of this witness.

### **OUESTION PRESENTED**

WHAT STANDARDS SHOULD THE TRIAL COURT FOLLOW
IN ORDERING AND COMPELLING WITNESSES TO
UNDERGO PRETRIAL MEDICAL AND PSYCHIATRIC
EXAMINATIONS; AND, WHAT STANDARD OF REVIEW
SHOULD THE APPELLATE COURT APPLY IN SUCH
CASES?

#### **ARGUMENT**

WHAT STANDARDS SHOULD THE TRIAL COURT FOLLOW
IN ORDERING AND COMPELLING WITNESSES TO
UNDERGO PRETRIAL MEDICAL AND PSYCHIATRIC
EXAMINATIONS; AND, WHAT STANDARD OF REVIEW
SHOULD THE APPELLATE COURT APPLY IN SUCH CASES

The District Court in the instant case held that "Florida law accords with the majority rule in other jurisdictions that trial courts have the inherent power to order psychological examinations (Camejo Appendix C). The petitioner agrees with this proposition and agrees that Florida law up to date supports such a conclusion.

The District Court went on to state:

These examinations have been historically ordered in other jurisdictions, where one of three situations exists: (a) uncorroborated, testimony of victim; (b) competency of victim is in question; and (c) the victim's credibility is at issue.

(Camejo Appendix C, p. 10)

and,

Of course the mental competency of a victim/witness would always be a valid reason to order such an examination in a criminal prosecution. See, generally, <u>Goldstein v. State</u>, 447 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). And lastly,

credibility may be a reason to order such an examination, but only if there is strong and compelling evidence. Coe:

Denkins.

In summary, we conclude that Camejo failed to demonstrate any compelling or extreme circumstances which could establish the need for a psychological evaluation of the victim. None of the bad characteristics and acts detailed in the motion provide strong evidence of the victim's psychological propensity to be. Further the defense has various alternative means to attack the victim's veracity without resorting to introduction of testimony of an expert based on a psychological examination of the victim. Using the balancing test and considerations set forth in Maday and Delaney, the victims interests and rights far outweigh those of Camejo, who will be little prejudiced by denying the examination.

(Camejo Appendix C, p. 11)

As noted by the Petitioner in his Motion for Rehearing (Camejo Appendix D), the District Court did consider Petitioner's allegations:

The allegations which the defense argued demonstrate the victim's mental instability were:

- 1) the victim was arrested for domestic violence and after beating and biting her mother;
- 2) a former boyfriend stated the victim had formed a fantasy future of marriage and a life with him;
- 3) the victim had a previous domestic dispute with another live-in boy friend resulting in her being beaten;

- 4) statements from a former boyfriend that the victim was loud and wild when drinking; and
- 5) that the victim hit her ex-boyfriend's car with a shovel or stick, and on another occasion put a shovel through the windshield of a car belonging to a woman who dated the victim's exboyfriend.

(Camejo Appendix C, p. 3)

The District Court, however failed to take into consideration numerous other instances pointing to the Complainant's mental and emotional instability (See, State Appendix C, p. 1-3). Two former boyfriends, Jeffery Deeter and Scott Moser both gave statements as to the Complainant's emotional instability. The Complainant bit her mother leaving a scar. The Complainant had a propensity for violence with her boyfriends. The Complainant had attempted suicide. Eda Medina, who knew both the defendant and complainant testified that they had lived together as boyfriend and girlfriend and had intimate relationships.

The defendant submits that by sworn testimony and statements in the trial court, he showed compelling testimony concerning extraordinary and unusual facts and circumstances which pointed towards the Complainant's mental and emotional instability. In the trial court, the State did not refute or contradict these allegations. Indeed, as to the Complainant putting a shovel through Mr. Deeter's windshield, the State commented that:
"It probably did happen" (Camejo Appendix B, p. 4). The

prosecutor himself admitted that the concerns demonstrated by the

defendant may show the Complainant to be "flighty" (Camejo Appendix B, p. 4).

The defendant submits that the standards a trial court should follow in ordering and compelling witnesses to undergo pretrial psychiatric examinations should require that the movant present compelling testimony concerning extraordinary and unusual facts and circumstances sufficient to raise a reasonable concern in the trial court that the Complainant may be mentally or emotionally unstable.

The District Court (Camejo Appendix C, p. 7) listed six factors to consider. The defendant submits that the factors listed are certainly factors to be considered but that the trial court's determination as to whether to order an examination should not be limited only to these factors. Especially when considering such a non-physical entity as the human mind, and, recognizing the ability of trial courts to discern what facts circumstances are truly extraordinary and unusual, the defendant submits that all relevant factors should be considered.

But, even using the District Court's criteria, the defendant submits that Complainant's examination was warranted:

- 1) The examination was to be psychological, not physical. As the complainant had told Dr. Weinberger that she had attempted suicide (State Appendix C, p. 2), it is conceivable/likely that complainant had previously undergone a psychological examination so that this would not be a new or unnerving experience.
  - 2) Age. The complainant was not of tender years.
  - 3) The state presented no evidence to the trial court nor is

there anywhere shown that the examination would unduly affect the complainant.

- 4) The probative value goes to both the competency and credibility. The facts shown by defendant in the trial court bring both concerns into question. It cannot be overlooked that the incident in question happened in the house where the defendant and complainant had lived together, intimately as boyfriend and girlfriend according to Eda Medina (State Appendix C, p. 3). There were no witnesses except the two parties. Both competency and credibility were concerns which had to be addressed.
- 5) Remoteness in time. Years did not intervene between the incident in question and the examination request.
- evidence would prove as valuable in both discerning and questioning the complainant's competency and credibility as a psychological examination. Cross-examination may not prove effective if the witness is truly emotionally disturbed. The witness may believe a fantasy so completely that it becomes real to her. It cannot be expected that the State would not seek to limit or exclude the evidence and testimony the defendant would seek to introduce as to complainant's past irrational behavior. Only an examination by a neutral court-ordered expert can provide the dispassionate evidence necessary to make a reasoned determination as to the twin questions of competency and credibility.

In finding that a psychological interview of a complainant was warranted, the court in <u>Gray v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1665

## (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) recently stated:

Here, appellant requested an interview, not an intrusive examination, by his expert. The victim was no longer of tender years, and there was no testimony that the evaluation will result in any physical or emotional detriment to the victim. The probative value of the examination was heightened by appellant's inability to otherwise refute the state's expert's testimony regarding subjective observations. Given the seriousness of the allegations, the limited scope of appellant request for an interview rather than a more intrusive examination, the state's use of expert's testimony which was based in part on subjective observations that would be difficult to refute absent and independent interview, and the showing that the victim may have made false allegations due to his emotional instability, the trial court abused its discretion in denying appellant's request for a personal interview of J.D.

(p. 1668).

Here, too, there is no showing the examination will be intrusive. The complainant is not of tender years. There is not testimony that the examination will result in any physical or emotional detriment to the victim. The defendant has shown that the Complaint may have made false allegations due to her emotional instability. The defendant submits that here, too, an examination is warranted. See, also, State v. Rhone, 566 So. 2d 1387 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1990); Easterday v. State, 256 N.E. 2d 901 (Indiana 1970).

The defendant further submits that the standard of review to be applied by appellate courts when reviewing the rulings of trial courts on such motions is abuse of discretion.

In <u>Wilk v. State</u>, 217 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), the Court considered the standard of review on this issue and stated:

That ruling was one within the sound judicial discretion of the court, and abuse of discretion was not shown.

(p. 11)

In <u>Pagan v. State</u>, 599 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the Court considered the question and stated:

The question of whether to order an additional psychological examination of the victim by a courtappointed expert is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. The record here does not reflect any circumstance that would call for the court to obtain a second expert opinion.

(p. 745)

The same question was considered by the Court in Government of the Virgin Islands v. A., Leonard, 922 F. 2d 1141 (3d Cir. 1991) in which the court stated:

While the magistrate did not make findings of fact that does not mean that he did not exercise his discretion. Fact finding involves a determination of the accurate historical record. On the other hand the exercise of discretion concerns the determination of what should be

done once the facts are ascertained. Here the magistrate accepted the facts proffered by appellant but concluded that they did not justify an order for the examinations. The determination was an exercise of discretion which we cannot disturb unless we find the discretion was abused, which we do not.

(p. 1143)

Here, too, the defendant submits that the standard to be applied on appellate review of a ruling on a motion for psychological/psychiatric evaluation of a witness should be whether, considering all the facts before it, the trial court abused its discretion in making its determination.

Applying this standard, the defendant respectfully submits that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling upon the facts before it, that the complainant in this case should undergo a psychiatric evaluation.

### CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, arguments and authorities, the appellant Respectfully submits that Question Certified by the District Court should be Answered:

The Standard to be applied by a trial court in ordering and compelling witnesses to undergo pretrial psychiatric examinations is whether the movant has shown compelling evidence demonstrating extraordinary and unusual facts and circumstances which point towards the complainant's mental and emotional instability.

The Standard of Review to be applied by an appellate court is whether, considering all the facts before it, the trial court abused its discretion in ruling upon a Motion to Compel the Psychiatric Examination of a witness.

Applying these standard to the instant case, the ruling of the trial court must be Affirmed or this Petition will be denied his right to Due Process of Law under the United States and Florida Constitutions.