IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

NOV 10 1994

By ______Chief Deputy Clerk

RAUL CAMEJO,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 83,909

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #397024 444 Seabreeze Boulevard 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court's holding that trial courts are without authority to compel witnesses to submit to an examination of any sort should be reaffirmed in this case. Trial courts have no authority to order sexual abuse victims to undergo psychiatric examinations, especially where, as here, the victim's credibility and not her competency is challenged. There is no common law precedent for such authority, and no constitutional right to pretrial discovery. Court ordered psychiatric evaluations violate the victim's right to privacy as guaranteed by the Florida Constitution. Additionally, such an invasive examination of a person not accused or even suspected of a crime violates the witness's right against unreasonable searches and seizures. Finally, there are compelling policy reasons for protecting witness/victims from invasive examination procedures.

Should this court not accept the state's primary position that no examinations are permitted, then respondent urges this court to adopt the test formulated by the district court. First, no motion by the defense should be entertained unless the state manifests an intent to rely on expert testimony. This psychiatric or other expert testimony must be based upon personal examination of the victim of a sexual assault. The proposed expert testimony must be that the behavior of the victim is consistent with the behaviors of other victims of sexual assault. Only when these three

preconditions are met should a trial court consider ordering a victim in a sexual battery case to be examined by a psychiatrist.

The burden is on the defendant to establish a compelling need or reason for the examination. Only then are the privacy rights of the victim properly balanced against the vague due process interests asserted by the defendant. The factors formulated by the Supreme Courts of Wisconsin and West Virginia provide a useful tool to guide the trial court's consideration of this extraordinary request.

Even assuming that trial courts possess the authority to order a psychological examination, all authorities agree that the court does not have the power to compel the witness to submit to an examination. Moreover, the state contends that this authority is limited to an evaluation submitted for in camera review to assist the trial court in determining the witness's competency to testify. The remedy to the defendant should the victim refuse to comply is to exclude the state's psychological experts from testifying. The victim will still be able to testify, subject to vigorous cross-examination that enables the jury to consider credibility and veracity.

As in most matters, the ruling of the trial court should be reviewed on appeal pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard.

ARGUMENT

COURTS ARE WITHOUT AUTHORITY TO ORDER THE VICTIM IN A SEXUAL BATTERY CASE TO UNDERGO PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINATION. ALTERNATIVELY, IF THIS AUTHORITY EXISTS, THE TEST EMPLOYED BY THE DECISION BELOW SHOULD BE ADOPTED BY THIS COURT.

At the outset, the state emphasizes that at issue in this case is the victim's credibility or veracity, and not her mental competency. As will be discussed later in this brief, these two concepts are distinctly different. Many of the authorities relied upon by Camejo and his amicus curiae concern competency and not credibility. Credibility is a jury question, but competency to testify is a question for the trial judge to determine. Thomas v. State, 73 Fla. 115, 74 So. 1 (1917); Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730 (1987). If the trial court finds that a witness is presently incompetent to testify, the witness is excluded. There is no determine comparable procedure to а witness's veracity. Credibility is always a jury question and does not require expert testimony for the jury to gauge whether the witness is telling the truth. Knight v. State, 97 So. 2d 115 (1957); Glendening v. State, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1988). For centuries, cross examination has been the method for testing whether a witness's testimony is true or false.

Two other preliminary points are especially germane to this proceeding. First, the state does not intend to rely on any psychological expert testimony based upon a personal interview of

the victim. There is no battle of the experts, but rather, a unilateral attempt by the defense to present expert testimony that the victim has a psychological propensity to lie. Second, all of the facts relied upon by Camejo in support of his request to have the victim examined are available for use on cross examination, subject to relevancy and other evidentiary rules. The jury will presumably hear all of the evidence the defense believes adversely affects the victim's credibility. At issue here is whether the defense may present additional testimony in the form of an expert to offer an opinion on the witness's lack of credibility.

Although acknowledging several district court decisions which seem to hold that trial courts possess the authority to order a witness to undergo a psychological examination, the state questions whether such authority exists. This court held in <u>State v. Smith</u>, 260 So. 2d 489, 491 (Fla. 1972), that there was no authority to compel witnesses to submit to examinations "of any sort."

No right is held more sacred, or is carefully guarded, by the common law, than the right of an individual to the possession and control of his own person, free from all restraint or interference of others, unless by clear unquestionable authority of The common law does not authorize a physical require the examination of a witness, because discovery in criminal cases unknown at common law....Nothing contained in these rules

procedure) purports to authorize a trial court to grant a motion compelling witnesses to submit to a physical examination of any sort. Id. (citations omitted).

The decision continued to state, in dicta, that even assuming that "in some rare instance, justice may require some type of physical examination of a witness, more must be shown than in the case sub judice." Id. This case was decided long before the Florida Constitution was amended to grant citizens of this state the right to privacy. Art. I, Sec. 23, Fla. Const. The legal underpinnings for Smith are even stronger now. Moreover, several district courts have reaffirmed the vitality of the holding in Smith that no right exists to have victims or witnesses undergo examination.

The Supreme Court's strong language in *Smith* must be looked upon as a firm warning to those who would feel moved to lead the jurisprudence of our state into uncharted waters by creating, via spontaneous generation, a criminal defense right to have crime victims or witnesses subjected to physical examinations. State v. Diamond, 553 So. 2d 1185, 1194 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (J. Nimmons, concurring).

See also, Bartlett v. Hamwi, 626 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); State v. Kuntsman, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D 2161 (Fla. 3d DCA October 12, 1994). The respondent requests this court to reaffirm its holding in Smith that no right exists to have crime victims or witnesses subjected to examinations of any kind.

There is no federal constitutional right to pretrial discovery

in a criminal case. <u>United States v. Gates</u>, 10 F. 3d 765 (11th Cir. 1994); <u>Weatherford v. Bursey</u>, 429 U.S. 545 (1977). Nor is a right to discovery found in the Florida Constitution. <u>Cuciak v. State</u>, 410 So. 2d 916, 919 (Fla. 1982) (J. Alderman, concurring); <u>State v. Diamond</u>, <u>supra</u>. Before the adoption of the discovery rule, the concept of discovery was "a complete and utter stranger to criminal proceedings." <u>State v. Lampp</u>, 155 So. 2d 10, 12 (2d DCA 1963), dismissed, 166 So. 2d 891 (Fla. 1964). The only limitation on the broad statement that there is no constitutional right to discovery is embodied in <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and its progeny, which is not at issue here.

The constitutional right deemed "obvious" by amicus curiae is satisfied by full and fair cross examination at trial; the right of confrontation is exercised at trial and does not embody any right to pretrial discovery. Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987). Where, as here, the information alleged to form the basis for the necessity of a psychiatric examination are available for use in cross examination, the defendant's rights are fully honored. United States v. Gates, supra; compare, United States v. Lindstrom, 698 F. 2d 1154 (11th Cir. 1983) (Two or three narrowly framed questions is not full and fair cross examination on issue of competency.); see also, United States v. Khoury, 901 F. 2d 948, 966 n. 17 (11th Cir. 1990).

Nor do the rules of discovery grant a defendant the right to request a witness to undergo a psychiatric evaluation. The general rule permitting discovery "as justice may require" does not permit an invasion of the witness/victim's constitutional rights.

Bartlett v. Hamwi, 626 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). As a matter of law, the usefulness of a compelled psychological examination is outweighed by the unnecessary annoyance and embarrassment to the victim. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(e).

When evaluating any constitutional claim, the Constitution has primacy, and this court must first examine the the respective parties relative to the rights of Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957, 963 (Fla. 1992). constitution. This court is bound to construe the Declaration of Rights in order to achieve individual freedom and autonomy. Id. The state contends that the victim's right to privacy and right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures is violated by ordering her to submit to a psychological examination. Art. I, Sec. 12; Art. I, Sec. 23, Fla. Const.

The state has standing to assert the victim's constitutional rights in this case because it stands to lose from the outcome and yet has no other effective avenue for preserving its rights. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1084 (Fla. 1994). Moreover, as noted by the decision below, the victim in this case was not given notice of the hearing. <u>State v. Camejo</u>, 641 So. 2d 109, n. 1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); see also, State v. Farr, 558 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution provides in part that "Every natural person has the right to be free from governmental intrusion into his private life except as otherwise provided herein." There can be no question that a psychological

examination is an intrusion into the most private aspect of a person's life. The state contends that the victim's right to privacy is violated by compelling psychiatric examinations where mental competence is not at issue.

Not only is the victim's right to privacy violated when a trial court compels psychiatric examination, the victim's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures is also ignored by such an order. Art. I, sec. 12, Fla. Const. Witnesses are not accused or even suspected of a crime, and yet are compelled to undergo invasive searches of the mind. This constitutes an unreasonable search forbidden by the state and constitutions. See, Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives Ass'n., 489 U.S. 602 (1989); see also, A Fourth Amendment Approach to Compulsory Physical Examinations of Sex Offense Victims, 57 U. Chi. L. Rev. 873 (1990). The Supreme Court of South Carolina held that no authority exists to order a witness to undergo psychiatric examination on this ground. State v. Register, 419 S.E. 2d 771 (S.C. 1992). See also, Bartlett v. Hamwi, 626 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

The victims of crimes should have at the very least the same rights against unreasonable governmental searches as a person accused of a crime. Under the discovery rules, examinations are not permitted on a defendant until after he or she is formally charged with a crime. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(c). This discovery rule is still subject to constitutional limitations. See, Hayes v. Florida, 470 U.S. 811 (1985). Without a finding of probable cause

of involvement in a crime, a defendant cannot be compelled to undergo examination or testing. See e.g., Saracusa v. State, 528 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Without probable cause that the victim is involved in a crime, a compelled physical or psychological examinations is an unreasonable search and seizure.

Pursuant to <u>Traylor</u>, the victim's constitutional rights to privacy and freedom from unreasonable searches must be construed to achieve individual freedom and autonomy. Victims of crime are afforded a unique status by the state constitution and statutes. Art. I, Sec. 16(b); Chapter 960, Fla. Stat. (1993). Reaffirmation of the holding of <u>Smith</u> prohibiting any examination adheres to these principles.

The more enlightened, if minority rule is to not permit compelled examinations of sexual abuse victims. In State v. Gabrielson, 464 N.W. 2d 434 (Iowa 1990), the Supreme Court of Iowa held that courts have no authority to order sexual abuse victims to undergo psychiatric examinations. As noted by this court in Smith, there is no statutory or common law authority granting such authority. The Iowa court noted that rape-shield statutes have been formulated to lessen the hardships victims of sexual battery must endure. Society has a need to protect these victims and encourage the reporting of crimes. Any possible benefit to the defendant was outweighed by the resulting invasion of privacy of the victim. The state urges this court to adopt this persuasive authority.

In addition to honoring the constitutional rights of the

victim, there are several policy reasons for an absolute rule forbidding psychiatric examinations. All authorities agree that even if a court has the authority to allow a psychiatric examination of the victim, the court has no power to compel the victim to submit to such an evaluation. See, Dinkins v. State, supra; 45 A.L.R. 4th 310, 315 (1986). This leaves the trial court in the awkward position of having no power to enforce its order. The sole remedy fashioned for this situation is to exclude the state's psychiatric expert from testifying. The victim is still able to testify and the jury judges the witness's testimony as usual. Second, the modern trend embodied in rape-shield statutes to lessen the attack upon the victim of sexual abuse is frustrated by forcing the victim to undergo the invasive and embarrassing examination. A psychiatric examination of the complaining witness in a sexual battery case "...is based on outmoded notions of the instability and duplicity of women in general and, as such, should be discarded altogether." State v. Camejo, 641 So. 2d at 111, quoting State v. Romero, 94 N.M. 22, 606 P. 2d 763 (1988). state's interest in having crimes reported is obviously lessened for a crime which already has an historically low reporting rate if the victim knows a court ordered psychiatric examination is possible, even likely.2

Finally, as noted by the decision below, this rule would "open

²In reaction to a decision by this court permitting a witness/victim to be evaluated by a psychiatrist, the state suggests that defense attorneys will routinely be making such a request to deflect claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

the door to experts determining what testimony was credible in virtually all criminal prosecutions." State v. Camejo, 641 So. 2d at 113. This battle of the experts on a witness's credibility would not be limited to criminal cases; there is no distinction between criminal and civil cases for competency, and presumably, credibility as well. See, Section 914.07, Florida Statutes (1993); Hackman v. Hyland, 444 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). This court should halt the slide down this slippery slope.

This court's holding that trial courts are without authority to compel witnesses to submit to an examination of any sort should be reaffirmed in this case. Trial courts have no authority to order sexual abuse victims to undergo psychiatric examinations, especially where, as here, the victim's credibility and not her competency is challenged. There is no common law precedent for such authority, and no constitutional right to pretrial discovery. Court ordered psychiatric evaluations violate the victim's right to privacy as guaranteed by the Florida Constitution. Additionally, such an invasive examination of a person not accused or even suspected of a crime violates the witness's right to be free from unreasonable searches. Finally, there are compelling policy reasons for protecting witness/victims from invasive examinations.

Should this court not accept the state's primary position that no examinations are permitted, then respondent urges this court to adopt the standards formulated by the district court. Camejo and the state agree that the test formulated by the district court are

"...certainly factors to be considered...<u>all</u> relevant factors should be considered." (Initial Brief, p. 10)³ This test properly balances the rights of the respective parties.⁴

If the trial court has the authority to order a witness to undergo psychological evaluation, such authority only exists to assist the trial judge to determine whether the witness is competent to testify. An in camera examination of the resulting report would be conducted by the judge. If the witness refuses to submit to an evaluation, the court must still determine the witness's competency to testify without the benefit of expert opinion, and may exclude the witness from testifying altogether. Either way, the defense is not entitled to review the witness's psychological evaluation.

The state reiterates the observation that at issue in this case is the witness's credibility or veracity and not her mental competency or competency as a witness. Credibility is a jury question, and expert opinions are not admissible to aid the jury in determining whether a witness is telling the truth. See generally, Glendening v. State, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1988); Knight v. State, 97 So. 2d 115 (1957). Under no circumstances should a psychological evaluation of a witness be permitted to determine whether their trial testimony is true or false because the result

³Camejo contends that the evidence presented in this case satisfied this or any test and on this point the parties disagree.

⁴The position advanced by the *amicus curiae* to lessen the standard fails to recognize that there are any competing rights to be balanced and is too extreme to warrant serious consideration or discussion.

of such an invasive procedure would be inadmissible.

Conversely, competency is a question for the trial court to determine. At issue is the witness's competency as a witness and not mental competency. There are differences between these two concepts. The Florida Evidence Code provides that all persons are competent to be a witness, except as otherwise provided by statute. Sec. 90.601, Fla. Stat. (1993). Other statutes provide that witnesses must appreciate an oath, must have personal knowledge, and must be capable of expressing themselves. Secs. 90.603, 90.604, 90.605 Fla. Stats. (1993). Competence as a witness is fixed at the time the person is offered as a witness, and not when the facts testified to occurred. Rivet v. State, 556 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Therefore, a mentally incompetent person could testify in a lucid interval, so long as they satisfy the statutory tests for competency as a witness. See, Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, Sec. 603.1 (1994).

Unlike credibility, the determination of whether a witness is competent to testify is for the trial judge. Thomas v. State, 73 Fla. 115, 74 So. 1 (1917); Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730 (1987). When the competency of a witness is challenged during the trial, the only appellate decisions addressing the issue will be upon a finding that the witness is competent to testify because the state would have no avenue of review should the witness be excluded after the jury is sworn. Given that the standard of review is manifest abuse of discretion, it is predictable that the trial court's determination is always upheld. See, Kaelin v. State, 410

So. 2d 1355 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); Williams v. State, 400 So. 2d 471 (5th DCA), aff'd. 406 So. 2d 1115 (Fla. 1981). Competency of a witness is an issue "...peculiarity within the discretion of the trial judge...(as it is) not fully portrayed by a base record." Swain v. State, 172 So. 2d 3,4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965).

Although certainly far afield from the issues presented by this case, the state suggests that the trial court may have the authority to order a witness to undergo an evaluation to assist the court in determining whether the witness is competent to testify. However, no power to compel the witness to submit exists. Should the witness refuse to be evaluated, then the trial court must resolve the issue of competency without the assistance of experts. Should the witness submit voluntarily to the court order, then the results of any such evaluation should be reviewed by the trial court and not given to the parties. See and compare, Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, supra.

There is one Florida case which permits a expert to present an opinion on a testifying witness's competency, namely, <u>Goldstein v. State</u>, 447 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). However, the state notes that this decision distinguishes cases such as this where credibility is at issue as expert testimony on credibility is inadmissible as improper bolstering. The state further suggests that this case is wrongly decided because competency is a question for the trial judge, and not the jury.

Assuming arguendo that the authority exists to order a

witness/victim to undergo a psychological examination, and assuming further that an expert's testimony would be admissible in evidence, the state agrees with Camejo that the multi-factored test adopted by the lower court provides considerations relevant to this issue.

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